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PROVISION OF THE KIDNEY FAILURE CARE OUTPATIENT SERVICE
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ISSAI 100, Fundamental Principles of Public-Sector Auditing
ISSAI 300, Fundamental Principles of Performance Auditing



AUDIT DESIGN: REASON

Renal replacement therapy is for life, it has important consequences for the patient’s
quality of life and has a high cost.

There are different systems for providing the service, with different agents involved,
the election of which may result in differences in the cost and quality of the service.

CatSalut provides the outpatient dialysis service through public procurement. It is
necessary for this procurement to be subject to the general principles of freedom of
access to tenders, transparency, non-discrimination and equal treatment between
bidders.
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AUDIT DESIGN: SCOPE

Type of audit
― Performance audit with an evaluative approach

Scope of the audit
― Audit the efficiency, efficacy and economy of the management carried out by the

Catalan Health Service in the provision of the kidney failure care outpatient service
― Some typical objectives of the evaluation of public policies and programmes have

been incorporated: evaluation of the governance tools, internal and external
coherence of the public intervention and the relevance and equity

Subjective scope
― Catalan Health Service
― Temporal scope. The analysis of specific data corresponds to 2022, but other aspects

have a broader scope
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AUDIT DESIGN: SCOPE

External haemodialysis, 2022

21 external 
dialysis centres

€47,744 
estimated cost
patient/year 

(includes €12,384 
transport)

€259 average 
amount paid 

for 1 
haemodialysis 

session

€97.85M 
cost paid 

to the 
centres

3,295 
patients 

(48% of the 
total in 
dialysis)

376,454 
haemodialysis 

sessions

Renal replacement therapy
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• The audit objective is situated within the framework of public service management 
contracts formalised in 2014 and extended annually until 2022. The Catalan Health Service 
justified the need to outsource part of the haemodialysis service, which began to be carried 
out in authorised dialysis centres managed by contractors.

• The Sindicatura does not question nor has an opinion on the political decision to outsource 
part of the dialysis service, which has not been subject to audit. 

• In 2014, CatSalut issued a call for tenders and awarded, through 2 negotiated procedures, 
the management of the outpatient haemodialysis service with an estimated contract value 
of  €1,165.77M VAT free, for a maximum period of 10 years.

AUDIT DESIGN: SCOPE

― Formalisation of the services management contract of the
outpatient activity: 1 April 2014

― Duration: 1 year + 9 annual extensions (maximum 10 years)
― End of the contract: 1 April 2024
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Opportunity of 
the Report



AUDIT DESIGN: PLANNING 
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INTERNAL 
REORGANISATION 

STRATEGY

• Multidisciplinary teams
• Work procedures: 

Statistics/risk analysis, 
Memorandums, Matrixes, 
Executive summary

• Analysis of the characteristics 
of the information (availability, 
integrity, authenticity, 
confidentiality, traceability) 

• Access to primary data

KEY ASPECTS

• Control environment:
Cybersecurity and 
Information Systems

• Continuous review
• Governance: involvement 

of the stakeholders
• Audit criteria
• Holistic vision of the 

intervention

EXPECTATIONS 

• Suitable and relevant methods: 
solid and reliable results 

• Results of the public intervention
• Culture of learning and public 

responsibility
• Improvement in the management: 

optimisation of resources
• Dissemination and transparency
• Close, efficient and quality public 

care for citizens



AUDIT DESIGN: AUDIT CRITERIA 

APPLYING EVALUATION CRITERIA THOUGHTFULLY © OECD 2021

 Standards/Principles
 Interdependence?
 Initial consideration
 Basis for evaluative judgements
 Purpose. Priorities. Scope. 

Context
 Useful and quality evaluation
 Standardisation, comparison 

and learning

EVALUATION QUESTIONS
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AUDIT DESIGN: PLANNING MATRIX
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AUDIT DESIGN: THEORY OF CHANGE

NEEDS
• Identification and 

diagnosis of kidney 
failure

• Population that needs 
renal replacement 
therapy

• Improvement of the 
prevention and 
diagnosis of kidney 
failure

• Social support and 
support from 
nutrition and mental 
health professionals, 
beyond renal 
replacement therapy

UTILITY
Have the needs been 

resolved in view of the 
impacts?

RELEVANCE
Do the objectives 
meet the needs?

Socio-economic IMPACTS

• Reduction of the incidence 
and prevalence rate of 
kidney failure

• Improvement of health and 
quality of life

Purpose
• Improvement of the 

prevention and diagnosis 
of kidney failure

• Improvement of the 
safety, effectiveness and 
accessibility of the 
patient in renal 
replacement therapy to 
high quality healthcare 
resources

• Achieving high 
satisfaction in the 
provision of the services

Resources
• Economic budget for 

kidney failure healthcare
• Number of haemodialysis 

monitors and provision of 
personnel available in the 
different healthcare levels

Activities
• Agreement with hospitals 

to carry out in-patient 
dialysis (haemodialysis and 
peritoneal dialysis)

• Public procurement of 
companies that do 
outpatient haemodialysis

• Kidney transplants
• Support from 

multidisciplinary 
professionals to the 
patient

• Patient transport

Results
• Number of dialysis sessions 

done
• Number of patients in renal

replacement therapy
• Number of available 

haemodialysis care points
• Number of patients in home 

treatments
• Degree of user satisfaction
• Quality level of the 

healthcare activity

EFFICIENCY

ECONOMY

EFFICACY
Achievement of set 

objectives and expected 
results

External coherence
With other territories, 
existing standards and 

evidence
(evaluations, studies and 

research)?

Internal coherence
Is the public intervention 

appropriate to achieve the 
objectives? Performance audit and 

evaluation of public policies
Evaluation of public policies

Governance

among involved agents

Equity

in the access and distribution 
of resources
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AUDIT DESIGN: AUDIT OBJECTIVES 

OBJECTIVES SCOPE

1
Has the Government created a public healthcare policy for 
kidney disease patients that meets the previously identified 
needs?

Planning and objectives

2 Is the procurement of outpatient services suitable to meet 
health and social needs?

Procurement of provision

3
Have the most suitable provisions in quantity and quality 
been acquired? and Has the coordination of healthcare 
resources been coherent and efficient?

Suitability of the 
provisions in quantity, 
quality and cost

4 To what extent is there a control system that guarantees 
performance of the contract and quality of the service? Control system
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 The following has been combined to 
obtain the audit results: 
documentary, analytical, physical and 
testimonial evidence, the latter 
through interviews with 
stakeholders (technical and legal 
experts, audited entities and other 
stakeholders).

 In this report, the preliminary 
conclusions and recommendations 
have been verified and shared with 
the managers of the audited entity 
and with the stakeholders, before 
definitive approval of the report.

AUDIT DESIGN: INCORPORATION of STAKEHOLDERS

CatSalut
Catalan Transplant 

Organisation

User Associations
• Catalan Association of Patients 

with Kidney Disease  
• Jaume Arnó Kidney Foundation
• National Federation of 

Associations for the Fight against 
Kidney Disease

Scientific Societies
Catalan Nephrology

Society

Nephrology services
• Bellvitge Hospital
• Dr Josep Trueta 

University Hospital
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AUDIT DESIGN: HOLISTIC VISION

Planning and objectives

Procurement of 
provision

Suitability of the provisions in quantity, 
quality and cost

Control 
system
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GOVERNANCE



AUDIT DESIGN: AUDIT CRITERIA - RESULTS
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48 Conclusions
31 Recommendations

Criterion Result

RELEVANCE
• The current Strategic Plan is deemed obsolete.
• The volume of the contracted activity does not vary depending on the needs. In 10 centres, the billed amount 

exceeds that contracted.

EFFICACY
• The objectives set out in the Strategic Plan were not met. 
• User satisfaction has not been evaluated. In particular, dissatisfaction with the medical transport.
• There are areas for improvement in the identification, recording and prevention of chronic kidney disease.

EFFICIENCY
• The report on needs for the procurement was not sufficiently justified and there are facts that could constitute 

evidence of collusive behaviour.

ECONOMY
• The cost of providing the service is not supported with cost studies that justify the tariffs. 
• There is no robust billing validation system. There are potential duplications.
• Signing of the annual clauses that regulate the service provision should not be late.

COHERENCE 
(internal and 
external)

• The definition and functions of the healthcare levels that form the map of resources do not correspond with the 
distribution and real functioning of some centres.

• Although home techniques have been recommended by different organisms for years, peritoneal dialysis is being
underused. 

EQUITY

• Patients’ access to professionals (nutritionists, psychologists) depends on the centre where the patient is seen, or 
on their ability to search.

• A significant territorial variation and a clear socio-economic component has been observed in access to home 
treatments. 



REPORT CONTENTS: RECOMMENDATIONS

Planning of resources
Patients in a situation of social vulnerability (definition of reference and
identification)
Participation of the stakeholders
Procurement of the service (promoting competition)
Cost of providing the service (estimate the cost of providing the different dialysis
services and update tariffs to facilitate hospitals to offer home techniques)
Human and technological resources
Quality of the outpatient haemodialysis service
Monitoring and control of the activity

For improvement of the efficiency, efficacy and economy of 
the management by the Catalan Health Service of the 
provision of the kidney failure care outpatient service.
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01/04/2014 
Start of 
contract

01/04/2024: Deadline 
(initial duration of the 

contract plus the 
extensions: 10 years)

01/04/2024 to 01/10/2024 
Extension for continuity of 

the contracted service

01/10/24 to 
31/12/24 

Emergency 
contracting

01/01/25 to 31/12/25 
maximum

Emergency contracting

18/01/24 Publication of 
notice of future tender 13/01/25 

Publication of the 
new tender

2022 Subsequent events included in the 
report

For information: Not audited

Filing of 
appeals before 

the TCCSP

REPORT CONTENTS: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
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REPORT CONTENTS: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS - NEW TENDER

Haemodialysis session price: 220.12 euros 

Award procedure: open

Duration of the contract: 5 years

In-person availability of psychologists, nutritionists and physiotherapists

Service provision control: monitoring committees

Medical transport: incidents and coordination

User satisfaction: indicator of quality in provision of the service
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COMMUNICATION – COMMUNICATIVE ELEMENTS

Website
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• Report and 2-minute report

• Press release

• Infograph • Leaflet

• Video and 
presentation in 
Parliament



COMMUNICATION - IMPACT IN THE PRESS
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www.sindicatura.cat
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